FILED 8/30/2017 1:22 PM Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

SUPREME COURT NO. \_\_\_\_\_ COA NO. 74356-2-I

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

#### MARTIN AMAYA-ONTIVEROS,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable John H. Chun, Judge

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

CASEY GRANNIS Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

#

A.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
B.	COURT OF APPEALS DECISION
C.	ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE1
	1. Trial Evidence1
	2. Jury Instructions
	3. Arguments to Jury and Outcome
	4. Appeal7
E.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED
	1. THIS COURT'S GUIDANCE IS NECESSARY AS TO WHETHER THE "RARE CIRCUMSTANCE" OF NO DOUBLE JEOPARDY VIOLATION IN <u>MUTCH</u> HAS NOW BECOME THE RULE RATHER THAN THE EXCEPTION
	a. The law against double jeopardy protects the accused from multiple punishments for the same offense
	b. Based on the full record, including the failure to instruct the jury that it needed to find an act of child molestation separate and distinct from an act of child rape, it is not manifestly apparent that double jeopardy was avoided9
	c. The Court of Appeals' decision demonstrates the current trend toward disregarding the rigorous standard of review for double jeopardy claims set forth in <u>Mutch</u> and <u>Kier</u>
F.	CONCLUSION

#### **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

# WASHINGTON CASES State v. Aumick, 126 Wn.2d 422, 894 P.2d 1325 (1995)..... 17 State v. Benson, No. 74815-7-I, 2017 WL 3017517 (July 17, 2017) (unpublished)...... 18 State v. Berg, 147 Wn. App. 923, 198 P.3d 529 (2008), abrogated on other grounds by State v. Mutch, 171 Wn.2d 646, 254 P.3d 803 (2011)..... 15 State v. Borsheim, State v. Carson, 184 Wn.2d 207, 357 P.3d 1064 (2015).....14 State v. DeRyke, 110 Wn. App. 815, 41 P.3d 1225 (2002), aff'd, 149 Wn.2d 906, 73 P.3d 1000 (2003)..... 17 State v. Duenas, noted at 199 Wn. App. 10272017 WL 2561589 (2017) (unpublished)...... 18 State v. Fuentes, 179 Wn.2d 808, 318 P.3d 257 (2014)..... 12 State v. Kier, 164 Wn.2d 798, 194 P.3d 212 (2008)...... 16, 18, 19 State v. Land, 172 Wn. App. 593, 295 P.3d 782, review denied, 177 Wn.2d 1016, 304 P.3d 114 (2013). ..... 10-12

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

# WASHINGTON CASES

<u>State v. Lindsay,</u> 171 Wn. App. 808, 288 P.3d 641 (2012), <u>rev'd on other grounds</u> , 180 Wn.2d 423, 326 P.3d 125 (2014) 17			
State v. Miller, noted at 198 Wn. App. 1008, 2017 WL 959539 (2017) (unpublished) 18			
<u>State v. Mutch,</u> 171 Wn.2d 646, 254 P.3d 803 (2011)9, 12-15, 17, 18, 20			
State v. Newland, noted at 198 Wn. App. 1027, 2017 WL 1163138 (2017) (unpublished) 18			
<u>State v. Nguyen,</u> No. 74358-9-I, 2017 WL 3017516 (July 17, 2017) (unpublished) 18			
<u>State v. Taylor,</u> 90 Wn. App. 312, 950 P.2d 526 (1998)			
<u>State v. Watkins,</u> 136 Wn. App. 240, 148 P.3d 1112 (2006)9			
OTHER AUTHORITIES			
RAP 13.4(b)(3)			
RAP 13.4(b)(4)			
RCW 9A.44.010(1)			
RCW 9A.44.010(2)			
RCW 9A.44.079(1)11			
RCW 9A.44.089(1)11			
U.S. Const. amend. V			

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

# **OTHER AUTHORITIES**

Page

#### A. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER</u>

Martin Amaya-Ontiveros asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part B of this petition.

#### B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Amaya requests review of the decision in <u>State v. Martin Amaya-</u> <u>Ontiveros</u>, Court of Appeals No. 74356-2-I (slip op. filed July 31, 2017), attached as appendix A.

#### C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Based on how the jury was instructed and in light of the entire record, did the convictions for two counts of child rape and two counts of child molestation violate the right to be free from double jeopardy?

#### D. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

The State charged Amaya with two counts of third degree child molestation and two counts of third degree child rape, committed against 15-year-old AAE during the same charging period. CP 7-8.

#### 1. Trial Evidence

AAE lived with his family in a Bellevue apartment. 1RP<sup>1</sup> 56, 58-59. Amaya moved in by agreement with AAE's father. 1RP 66, 112-14, 118, 157-59. AAE testified to a number of incidents involving sexual

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The verbatim report of proceedings is referenced as follows: 1RP - six consecutively paginated volumes consisting of 9/10/15, 9/14/15, 9/15/15, 9/16/15, 9/17/15, 9/21/15; 2RP - 9/22/15; 3RP - 11/20/15.

contact with Amaya. AAE maintained Amaya touched his penis about 10 times altogether. 1RP 174. Amaya also sucked AAE's penis about 10 times. 1RP 179. Every time or nearly every time something happened between the two, Amaya sucked AAE's penis. 1RP 179.

AAE described some incidents in more detail. In October 2014, AAE was on the couch watching television when Amaya sat down, placed AAE's legs over his lap, put his hand up AAE's shorts, and fondled AAE's penis. 1RP 168-73. In the second week of October, Amaya pulled him into the hallway, felt AAE's body, touched AAE's penis and then performed oral sex on him. 1RP 174-80. In the third week of October, Amaya came up behind AAE while the latter was in the kitchen, placed AAE on the kitchen counter, put AAE's legs on his shoulders, and fondled his penis. 1RP 179-84.

Amaya masturbated and ejaculated on AAE in the hallway two times. 1RP 190, 192-93.<sup>2</sup> The first time it happened was the last week of October, where Amaya fondled AAE's penis, masturbated and then ejaculated on AAE's penis. 1RP 191. The second time this happened in the hallway was the first week of November. 1RP 193-94.

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  AAE described two events of this nature happening in the hallway, a third in the bedroom. 1RP 193.

One time in October, Amaya took AAE into his bedroom and performed oral sex on AAE as he was lying in bed. 1RP 184-88. Amaya took AAE into his bedroom three or four times "to do something like this." 1RP 188. Another bedroom incident was similar, in which Amaya masturbated and sucked AAE's penis. 1RP 188-90.

The last time something happened, Amaya brought AAE into his room, put him on the bed, placed AAE's legs on his shoulders, rubbed his penis around AAE's buttocks and anal area, and ejaculated on AAE's stomach. 1RP 194-97. There was no penetration. 1RP 196.

#### 2. Jury Instructions

The "to convict" instruction for third degree child molestation under count 1 provided in relevant part:

To convict the defendant of the crime of child molestation in the third degree, as charged in Count I, each of the following elements of the crime must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

(1) That between October 1, 2014 and November 6, 2014, on an occasion separate and distinct from count II, the defendant had sexual contact with A.A.-E.;

(2) That A.A.-E. was at least fourteen years old but less than sixteen years old at the time of the sexual contact and was not married to the defendant and was not in a state registered domestic partnership with the defendant;

(3) That A.A.-E. was at least forty-eight months younger than the defendant; and

(4) That this act occurred in the State of Washington. CP 22.

The jury was given a corollary "to convict" instruction for third degree child molestation for count 2, specifying the sexual contact between October 1, 2014 and November 6, 2014 was "on an occasion separate and distinct from count I." CP 26.

The "to convict" instruction for third degree child rape under count 3 provided in relevant part:

To convict the defendant of the crime of rape of a child in the third degree, as charged in Count III, each of the following elements of the crime must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

(1) That between October 1, 2014 and November 6, 2014, on an occasion separate and distinct from Count IV, the defendant had sexual intercourse with A.A.-E.;

(2) That A.A.-E. was at least fourteen years old but was less than sixteen years old at the time of the sexual intercourse and was not married to the defendant and was not in a state registered domestic partnership with the defendant;

(3) That A.A.-E. was at least forty-eight months younger than the defendant; and

(4) That this act occurred in the State of Washington. CP 29.

The jury was given a corollary "to convict" instruction for third

degree child rape for count 4, specifying the sexual intercourse between

October 1, 2014 and November 6, 2014 was "on an occasion separate and

distinct from count III." CP 31.

"Sexual intercourse" was defined for the jury as "any act of sexual contact between persons involving the sex organs of one person and the mouth or anus of another whether such persons are of the same or opposite sex." CP 30. "Sexual contact" was defined as "any touching of the sexual or other intimate parts of a person done for the purpose of gratifying sexual desires of either party or a third party." CP 23. The jury also received two unanimity instructions, one addressing child molestation under counts 1 and 2 and the other addressing child rape under counts 3 and 4. CP 27, 32.

#### 3. Arguments to Jury and Outcome

The prosecutor argued to the jury that "sexual contact" for child molestation under count 1 and 2 means "touching of the sexual or intimate parts of a person done for the purpose of gratifying the sexual desires of either party. Here what we're talking about is gratifying the sexual desires of the defendant. And for purposes of count I and II, what we're talking about is the defendant's fondling of [AAE's] penis, we're talking about the defendant masturbating and ejaculating on [AAE]. What we're saying when we talk about sexual contact is contact that is not accidental, contact that is purposeful, that is intentional, contact that's not between an adult and child for bathing purposes or medical purpose, but it is done for the purpose of sexual gratification." 1RP 334-35. The prosecutor then addressed the offense of child rape under counts 3 and 4: "Sexual intercourse means any act of sexual contact involving the mouth of one and the sexual organs of the other, for purposes of counts III and IV, what we're talking about here is the defendant performing oral sex on [AAE]." 1RP 335.

The prosecutor summarized AAE's testimony: "He told you about many different incidents. He was able to describe in detail at least nine separate incidents for you here in court." 1RP 338. The prosecutor told the jury with reference to the unanimity instructions that "You must simply agree that two separate and distinct acts of child molestation in the third degree happened within that charging period, and, similarly, you must agree that two separate and distinct acts of rape of a child in the third degree happened within those charging periods." 1RP 343. The prosecutor then gave some "suggestions" on how the jury could go about doing that. 1RP 343-44.

Defense counsel argued AAE's credibility was the dispositive factor. 1RP 348. Counsel invited the jury to examine AAE's testimony and compare it with the pre-trial statements he gave to the detectives. 1RP 349-51. In the December interview with Detective McBride, AAE did not mention oral sex took place. 1RP 351. In the March interview with Detective Moriarty, AAE said oral sex took place five times. 1RP 351. At trial, AAE inconsistently claimed oral sex happened 10 times. 1RP 351.

Defense counsel further argued the kitchen countertop incident was not mentioned in either of the detective interviews; it was mentioned for the first time at trial. 1RP 351-52. The incident involving masturbating AAE's penis in the bedroom was not mentioned in either interview. 1RP 352. AAE did not mention an incident in which Amaya ejaculated on his stomach in the interviews. 1RP 353. AAE made a new allegation at trial that Amaya orally copulated him in the bedroom. 1RP 353. In his December statement to McBride, AAE claimed four instances total. 1RP 356. In his March statement to Moriarty, AAE claimed 10 instances. 1RP 356. In his December statement to McBride, he said fondling happened two times. 1RP 356. In his March statement, he claimed fondling happened 10 times. 1RP 356. In his December statement, he said the hallway incidents happened twice. 1RP 356. In his March statement, he claimed four incidents in the hallway. 1RP 356.

The jury returned general guilty verdicts on all counts. CP 38-41.

#### 4. Appeal

On appeal, Amaya argued his two molestation convictions violated his right to be free from double jeopardy because the jury instructions permitted the jury to rely on the same act of oral-genital contact for both rape and molestation and it was not manifestly apparent to the jury that a double jeopardy violation was avoided. <u>See</u> Brief of Appellant at 1, 15-29; Reply Brief at 1-2. The Court of Appeals disagreed. Slip op. at 4-10.

#### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

### 1. THIS COURT'S GUIDANCE IS NECESSARY AS TO WHETHER THE "RARE CIRCUMSTANCE" OF NO DOUBLE JEOPARDY VIOLATION IN <u>MUTCH</u> HAS NOW BECOME THE RULE RATHER THAN THE EXCEPTION.

Amaya was convicted of two counts of child molestation and two counts of child rape based on the same charging period. The evidence showed multiple acts supporting conviction for those offenses. The two offenses were the same in fact and in law. Considering the entire record, the court's failure to instruct the jury that it needed to find acts of child molestation separate and distinct from acts of child rape exposed Amaya to multiple punishments for a single offense. This violated his right to be free from double jeopardy. Unfortunately, the rigorous standard of review previously announced by this Court has been relaxed in application, with the Court of Appeals' decision marking the latest example. Review is warranted because this case presents a significant question of constitutional law under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and, given the frequency with which this issue recurs, an issue of substantial public importance under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

# a. The law against double jeopardy protects the accused from multiple punishments for the same offense.

The right to be free from double jeopardy "is the constitutional guarantee protecting a defendant against multiple punishments for the same offense." <u>State v. Borsheim</u>, 140 Wn. App. 357, 366, 165 P.3d 417 (2007); U.S. Const. amend. V; Wash. Const. art. I, § 9. Insufficient jury instructions can expose defendants to double jeopardy. <u>Borsheim</u>, 140 Wn. App. at 366-68. The reviewing court considers insufficient instructions "in light of the full record" to determine whether a double jeopardy error occurred. <u>State v. Mutch</u>, 171 Wn.2d 646, 664, 254 P.3d 803 (2011). Double jeopardy is violated if it is not "manifestly apparent to the jury that each count represented a separate act." <u>Id.</u> at 665-66.

b. Based on the full record, including the failure to instruct the jury that it needed to find an act of child molestation separate and distinct from an act of child rape, it is not manifestly apparent that double jeopardy was avoided.

Jury instructions "must more than adequately convey the law. They must make the relevant legal standard manifestly apparent to the average juror." <u>Borsheim</u>, 140 Wn. App. at 366 (quoting <u>State v. Watkins</u>, 136 Wn. App. 240, 241, 148 P.3d 1112 (2006)). The jury instructions in Amaya's case do not satisfy this standard. In the "to convict" instructions for child molestation under counts 1 and 2, the jury was instructed that it needed to find an act of molestation separate and distinct from another act of molestation under the other count. CP 22, 26. In the "to convict" instructions for child rape under counts 3 and 4, the jury was instructed that it needed to find an act of rape separate and distinct from another act of rape under the other count. CP 29, 31. But no instruction told the jury that, to convict for child molestation under counts 1 and 2, it needed to find acts separate and distinct from acts of rape under counts 3 and 4.

In <u>Borsheim</u>, the Court of Appeals held an instruction that the jury must find a "separate and distinct" act for each count is required when multiple counts of sexual abuse are alleged to have occurred within the same charging period. <u>Borsheim</u>, 140 Wn. App. at 367-68. Without this instruction, the accused is exposed to multiple punishments for the same offense, violating his right to be free from double jeopardy. <u>Id.</u> at 364, 366-67. Courts subsequently applied the instructional principle established in <u>Borsheim</u> in other cases.

Of particular relevance here, the Court of Appeals in <u>State v. Land</u>, 172 Wn. App. 593, 598-603, 295 P.3d 782, <u>review denied</u>, 177 Wn.2d 1016, 304 P.3d 114 (2013) considered whether a double jeopardy violation occurred where the jury was not instructed it must find separate and distinct acts, not of the same charged crime, but of child rape and child molestation. Child molestation requires proof of "sexual contact," which means "any touching of the sexual or other intimate parts of a person done for the purpose of gratifying sexual desire of either party or a third party." RCW 9A.44.089(1); RCW 9A.44.010(2). Child rape requires proof of "sexual intercourse," which includes penetration, as well as "any act of sexual contact between persons involving the sex organs of one person and the mouth or anus of another." RCW 9A.44.079(1); RCW 9A.44.010(1).

When the act of rape is based on penetration, child rape and child molestation are not the same in fact and law, and a defendant can be punished for both offenses. Land, 172 Wn. App. at 600. But where the evidence of sexual intercourse is evidence of oral-genital contact, "that single act of sexual intercourse, if done for sexual gratification, is both the offense of molestation and the offense of rape." Id. In such a circumstance, the two offenses "are the same in fact and in law because all the elements of the rape as proved are included in molestation, and the evidence required to support the conviction for molestation also necessarily proves the rape." Id. Because of this potential double jeopardy problem, the Court considered Land's claim that the jury instructions exposed him to multiple punishments for the same offense. Id.

In Amaya's case, there was no penetration. The acts of rape were all based on oral-genital contact. The rape and molestation offenses are thus the same in fact and law for double jeopardy purposes. Land, 172 Wn. App. at 600. The jury was instructed on the statutory definitions of "sexual contact" and "sexual intercourse" for purposes of child molestation and rape. CP 24, 30. The Supreme Court has recognized "[t]hese two elements are substantially identical." <u>State v. Fuentes</u>, 179 Wn.2d 808, 824 n.3, 318 P.3d 257 (2014).

We thus look to the full record to determine whether it was manifestly apparent to the jury that it could not convict Amaya of child molestation based on the same act of rape. <u>Mutch</u>, 171 Wn.2d at 664-66.

The Court of Appeals in Amaya's case recognized "[h]ere, as with <u>Land</u>, there is a potential for double jeopardy because there was no instruction that an act of molestation had to be separate and distinct from an act of rape." Slip op. at 6. "Because the flawed instructions created a potential double jeopardy violation," the Court of Appeals went on to determine whether Amaya's right to be free from double jeopardy was violated. <u>Id</u>. This is where its analysis goes off the rails.

The Court of Appeals opined "A.A.E. testified that there were four separate instances of abuse that did not involve any oral-genital contact or any other type of sexual intercourse." Slip op. at 7. This is a misleading description of his testimony. AAE testified that Amaya touched his penis about 10 times altogether and sucked his penis about 10 times, and that every time or nearly every time something happened between the two, Amaya sucked AAE's penis. 1RP 174, 179. In answering the prosecutor's question about whether Amaya sucked his penis more than once, AAE answered "It happened like every, I guess, time, for ten times." 1RP 179. The prosecutor then asked "So nearly every time that something would happen, Martin would suck on your penis? Is that what I understand?" 1RP 179. AAE answered "yeah." 1RP 179. The Court of Appeals ignored this testimony.

Having just found the jury instructions were "flawed," the Court of Appeals then turned around and pronounced the jury instructions "do not support" Amaya's argument. Slip op. at 9. Contrary to the Court of Appeals' suggestion, the fact that there was a separate to-convict instruction for each count does not avoid a double jeopardy violation. <u>Mutch</u>, 171 Wn.2d at 662 (separate to-convict instructions for each count insufficient to avoid double jeopardy violation where none expressly stated that the jury must find that each charged count represents an act distinct from all other charged counts).

In refusing to find a double jeopardy violation, the Court of Appeals further relied on the presence of two unanimity instructions, one of which required the jury to find an act of child molestation "separate and distinct" from another act of child molestation and the other of which required the jury to find an act of rape "separate and distinct" from another act of rape. Slip op. at 9-10; CP 27, 32. It does not explain how these instructions cured the double jeopardy problem when neither of them required the jury to find an act of child molestation separate and distinct from an act of rape. These unanimity instructions did not prevent double jeopardy because they did not "convey the need to base *each* charged count on a 'separate and distinct' underlying event." <u>Borsheim</u>, 140 Wn. App. at 367, 369-70. The jury was nowhere instructed the acts of child rape needed to be separate and distinct from the acts of child molestation. To confuse matters, the pattern unanimity instruction for each set of charges in Amaya's case is "designed for single-count cases and is confusing when read in a multicount case." <u>State v. Carson</u>, 184 Wn.2d 207, 217, 219, 357 P.3d 1064 (2015). Such instruction fails "to ensure that the jury relied on a separate act for each count." <u>Id.</u> at 219.

The jury in Amaya's case was also instructed, "A separate crime is charged in each count. You must decide each count separately. Your verdict on one count should not control your verdict on any other count." CP 20. This instruction is insufficient to guard against double jeopardy because it fails to adequately inform the jury that each crime requires proof of a different act. <u>Mutch</u>, 171 Wn.2d at 663 (citing <u>Borsheim</u>, 140 Wn. App. at 367, 369-70). While the appellate court looks to the entire trial record when considering a double jeopardy claim, "review is rigorous and is among the strictest." <u>Mutch</u>, 171 Wn.2d at 664. "Considering the evidence, arguments, and instructions, if it is not clear that it was '*manifestly apparent* to the jury that the State [was] not seeking to impose multiple punishments for the same offense' and that each count was based on a separate act, there is a double jeopardy violation." <u>Id.</u> at 664 (quoting <u>State v. Berg</u>, 147 Wn. App. 923, 931, 198 P.3d 529 (2008), <u>abrogated on other grounds by State v. Mutch</u>, 171 Wn.2d 646, 254 P.3d 803 (2011)).

As set forth above, neither the evidence nor the jury instructions in Amaya's case made it manifestly apparent that the jury could not rely on the same act of rape to convict for the same act of child molestation. The arguments of counsel did not make it manifestly apparent either.

The Court of Appeals disagreed, claiming "the prosecutor's closing argument also clearly distinguished individual acts of child molestation and child rape," and so it was "manifestly apparent" that the State did not seek to impose multiple punishments for the same act. Slip op. 7-8.

The prosecutor in Amaya's case did not discuss every single act individually during closing argument. 1RP 338-39. The prosecutor did not clearly elect the specific acts it relied on to prove child molestation and child rape. Instead, the prosecutor acknowledged the multiple offenses alleged by AAE and invited jurors to take their pick. The prosecutor talked about the masturbating and ejaculating as acts of child molestation and oral sex as an act of rape. 1RP 334-35. But sandwiched in between, the prosecutor argued "What we're saying when we talk about sexual contact is contact that is not accidental, contact that is purposeful, that is intentional, contact that's not between an adult and child for bathing purposes or medical purpose, but it is done for the purpose of sexual gratification." 1RP 334-35. That framing of the "sexual contact" issue applies to both acts of molestation and rape.

Later, in addressing the unanimity instructions, the prosecutor made "some suggestions" on how the jury could apply them, giving some examples of what the jury could rely on to convict for molestation and rape. 1RP 342-44. But the prosecutor never told the jury that it could not rely on an act of rape (oral sex) as the basis for finding guilt on a molestation count.

Even if the prosecutor's closing argument constituted a clear election of separate acts for the molestation and rape counts, that argument by itself is insufficient to avoid a double jeopardy problem, especially where, as here, "the jury was properly instructed to base its verdict on the evidence and instructions and not on the arguments of counsel." <u>State v.</u> <u>Kier</u>, 164 Wn.2d 798, 813, 194 P.3d 212 (2008); <u>see</u> CP 13-15. "The jury

- 16 -

should not have to obtain its instruction on the law from arguments of counsel." <u>State v. Aumick</u>, 126 Wn.2d 422, 431, 894 P.2d 1325 (1995). The Court of Appeals did not even acknowledge the existence of <u>Kier</u>.

Amaya's case is not the "rare circumstance" where the jury plainly based each conviction on a separate and distinct act. <u>Mutch</u>, 171 Wn.2d at 665. Because there is no way to determine that the jury did not rely on the same acts, the benefit of the doubt regarding a potential double jeopardy violation should be given to the accused, not to the State. <u>See Kier</u>, 164 Wn.2d at 813-14 (applying rule of lenity in finding double jeopardy violation); <u>State v. Lindsay</u>, 171 Wn. App. 808, 846, 288 P.3d 641 (2012), <u>rev'd on other grounds</u>, 180 Wn.2d 423, 326 P.3d 125 (2014) (same); <u>State v. DeRyke</u>, 110 Wn. App. 815, 824, 41 P.3d 1225 (2002), <u>affd</u>, 149 Wn.2d 906, 73 P.3d 1000 (2003) (same); <u>State v. Taylor</u>, 90 Wn. App. 312, 317, 950 P.2d 526 (1998) (same).

# c. The Court of Appeals' decision demonstrates the current trend toward disregarding the rigorous standard of review for double jeopardy claims set forth in <u>Mutch</u> and <u>Kier</u>.

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