FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/28/2017 10:46 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 95035-1 COURT OF APPEALS NO. 74356-2-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

MARTIN AMAYA-ONTIVEROS,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW AND CROSS-PETITION

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

AMY R. MECKLING Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The State asks this Court to deny the petition for review. If this Court accepts review, the State seeks cross-review of the Court of Appeals' conclusion that the jury instructions, which did not inform the jury that an act of molestation had to be separate and distinct from an act of child rape, created a potential double jeopardy violation.

D. INTRODUCTION AND STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Amaya-Ontiveros was convicted of two counts of third-degree child molestation and two counts of third-degree child rape. CP 38-41. The relevant facts are set forth in the State's briefing before the Court of Appeals. Brief of Respondent at 3-6.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the convictions in a unanimous unpublished opinion. <u>State v. Amaya-Ontiveros</u>, No. 74356-2-1 (Wash. Ct. App. Jul. 31, 2017).

E. ARGUMENT

For the reasons outlined below, this Court should reject
Amaya-Ontiveros's petition for review. If the court accepts review, the
State requests that the court also accept review of the Court of
Appeals' conclusion that the jury instructions created the potential for a
double jeopardy violation. RAP 13.4(d).

1. THE COURT SHOULD DENY THE PETITION FOR REVIEW.

RAP 13.4(b) governs consideration of a petition for review. It provides that a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The State's briefing in the Court of Appeals adequately addressed the substantive issue raised by Amaya-Ontiveros. For the following reasons, review should be denied.

The Court of Appeals determined that because there was evidence of oral intercourse, the jury should have been instructed that a conviction for molestation was required to be based on an act

separate and distinct from an act of child rape. In State v. Mutch, this Court concluded that when multiple acts of child rape occurred during the same charging period, the jury must be provided a "separate and distinct acts" instruction to ensure that the defendant is not convicted twice for the same offense. 171 Wn.2d 646, 254 P.3d 803 (2011). However, this Court clarified that the potential for a double jeopardy violation is insufficient, and reversal unnecessary, when the entire record made it manifestly apparent to the jury that each count was based on a separate act. Id. at 664.

Here, the Court of Appeals properly applied Mutch by examining the trial testimony, closing argument, and jury instructions and concluding that it was manifestly apparent to the jury that the molestation charges were based on acts not involving intercourse, and the rape charges were based on acts of sexual intercourse. Amaya-Ontiveros, Slip Op. at 6-10.

Amaya-Ontiveros alleges there exists a recent trend in the court of appeals to "disregard[] the rigorous standard of review for double jeopardy claims" set forth in Mutch and State v. Kier, 164
Wn.2d 798, 194 P.3d 212 (2008). Pet. for Review at 17. He contends that the court of appeals has ignored this Court's observation that it

¹ The State has cross-petitioned on this issue to preserve the right to challenge it should this Court accept review.

would be a "rare circumstance" when reversal would not be required. In support of this argument, he cites to several recent unpublished opinions concluding that a review of the entire record made apparent to the reviewing court that no double jeopardy violation occurred. Pet. for Review at 18.

Ontiveros, the offenses allegedly constituting a double jeopardy violation were child molestation and child rape – crimes with different elements and easily distinguished on their facts. In each of the cited cases, as here, it was manifestly apparent to the jury that the child molestation counts were based on acts of sexual contact not involving intercourse, and the child rape counts were based on acts of oral intercourse. Unlike Mutch, where the defendant was charged with five identical counts of child rape occurring in the same time frame, Amaya-Ontiveros was charged with separate offenses for obviously distinct conduct. Given the specific facts presented in this case and the others cited, it is not an unusual or rare circumstance that the record was manifestly apparent that the child molestation and child

² Amaya-Ontiveros cites to one case, <u>State v. Newland</u>, that involved multiple counts of the identical crime. However, there, as in <u>Mutch</u>, the victim testified to a specific number of acts of intercourse that corresponded to the exact number of charges, the jury was given separate "to-convict" instructions and separate verdict forms for each count, and during closing argument, the prosecutor specifically referenced each count and which specific act each represented. 2017 WL 1163138, at *9 (2017).

rape counts were based on separate and distinct acts. Because <u>Mutch</u> had no occasion to consider the circumstances presented here and in the other cases Amaya-Ontiveros cites, his argument that the Court of Appeals is "watering down" the <u>Mutch</u> standard is baseless.

Amaya-Ontiveros also contends that the court of appeals is not faithfully applying this Court's holding in Kier, supra. However, in Kier, this Court merely held that the prosecutor's "election" was insufficiently clear to avoid a double jeopardy violation in light of the entire record, which included ambiguous jury instructions and testimony. 164 Wn.2d at 812-13. However, in this case, the Court of Appeals correctly noted that the trial testimony made it quite evident that acts of child molestation involving no intercourse occurred separate from other acts of intercourse. That unambiguous testimony, combined with the prosecutor's clear statements in closing that the molestation was based on acts of non-intercourse while the rapes were based on acts of intercourse, made it manifestly apparent that no double jeopardy violation occurred. The court of appeals did not disregard Kier.

Moreover, in alleging that the court of appeals is not properly applying Mutch and Kier, Amaya-Ontiveros ignores State v. Pena-Fuentes, where this Court concluded that no double jeopardy violation occurred when the State's closing argument clearly distinguished individual acts of molestation from acts of child rape, and where the

defendant challenged the victim's credibility generally and did not challenge the number of acts or whether they overlapped. 179 Wn.2d 808, 825-26, 318 P.3d 257 (2014). Similarly here, Amaya-Ontiveros testified and denied *all* of the acts, asserting that the victim was not believable as to *any* of the charged offenses. RP 311-12. The court of appeals properly recognized the similarity to <u>Pena-Fuentes</u> when it concluded that there was no double jeopardy violation. <u>Amaya-Ontiveros</u>, Slip Op. at 7-8.

Because Amaya-Ontiveros has failed to establish that the court of appeals opinion in this case or any other fails to properly apply decisions of this Court, review should be denied. RAP 13.4(b), (4).

2. CHILD MOLESTATION AND CHILD RAPE ARE NOT IDENTICAL OFFENSES.

The provisions of RAP 13.4(b) are inapplicable because the State is not seeking review and believes that review by this Court is unnecessary. However, if the Court grants review, in the interests of justice and full consideration of the issues, the Court should also grant review of the lower court's conclusion that child molestation and child rape are identical offenses when there is evidence of oral intercourse. RAP 1.2(a); RAP 13.7(b). This argument is summarized below and is set forth more fully in the briefing in the court of appeals.

The court of appeals concluded that if a charge of child rape is based on evidence of sexual intercourse in the form of oral-genital contact rather than penetration, then child molestation and child rape are identical offenses for double jeopardy purposes. <u>Amaya-Ontiveros</u>, Slip Op. at 5. If review is accepted, the State seeks cross-review of that conclusion. RAP 13.4(d).

A defendant's conduct may violate more than one criminal statute, and double jeopardy is implicated only when the court exceeds its legislative authority by imposing multiple punishments where multiple punishments are not authorized. State v. Calle, 125 Wn.2d 769, 776, 888 P.2d 155 (1995). The question of whether multiple punishments are authorized is ultimately a question of the legislature's intent. State v. Kelley, 168 Wn.2d 72, 77, 226 P.3d 773 (2010).

To determine legislative intent, courts consider the "same evidence" test, which asks whether the crimes are the same in both law and in fact. State v. Louis, 155 Wn.2d 563, 569, 120 P.3d 936 (2005). If each offense contains an element not included in the other, then the offenses are not the same in law and multiple convictions are permissible. Id. Only clear evidence of contrary legislative intent can override the results of the same evidence test. Calle, 125 Wn.2d at 780.

Child rape requires sexual intercourse, while child molestation requires sexual contact. State v. Jones, 71 Wn. App. 798, 824-26, 863 P.2d 85 (1993). Although sexual intercourse can be accomplished by oral/genital sexual contact, the definition of sexual contact that applies to child molestation does not apply to sexual intercourse for purposes of child rape. State v. Gurrola, 69 Wn. App. 152, 157, 848 P.2d 199 (1993). Applying the statutory definition of "sexual contact" to child rape cases would eliminate any distinction between rape of a child and molestation of a child when the contact was oral/genital – a result clearly contrary to legislative intent. Id.; see also State v. Brown, 78 Wn. App. 891, 895-96, 899 P.2d 34 (1995) (due to the improbability of inadvertent oral/genital contact, legislature did not intend statutory definition of "sexual contact," which includes sexual gratification requirement, to apply to rape cases).

The possibility that a jury may read its instructions in a manner that permits it to base multiple convictions upon the same act is a separate question from whether multiple punishments are legally authorized by the legislature in the first instance. As noted above, the correct inquiry to determine legislative intent is the same evidence test. Louis, 155 Wn.2d at 569. Because child molestation and child rape include different elements (sexual contact/gratification vs. sexual intercourse), the crimes are not identical offenses for double jeopardy

purposes. The court of appeals here erred when it concluded that the trial court was required to provide a "separate and distinct acts" instruction as to the child rape counts and child molestation counts in this case.

F. CONCLUSION

The State respectfully asks that the petition for review be denied. However, if review is granted, in the interests of justice the State seeks cross review of the issue in Section 2 above.